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| NI TI AL _DECI SI ON

This is a proceeding for the assessnment of a Class |
adm ni strative penalty under subsection 309(g) of the Clean Water
Act, 33 U. S.C. 8§ 1319(g). The proceeding is governed by the United
States Environnental Protection Agency's (EPA) procedural rules at 40
C.F.R Part 22, Subpart I, the Consolidated Rul es of Practice
Governing the Adm nistrative Assessnent of Civil Penalties, |ssuance
of Conpliance or Corrective Action Orders, and the Revocati on,
Term nation or Suspension of Permts, 64 Fed. Reg. 40138 (July 23,
1999). This is the Initial Decision of the Presiding Oficer under
Section 22.27 of the Consolidated Rul es.

I . | NTRODUCTI ON

On March 13, 1997, enployees of the U S. Environnmental
Protection Agency, Region 10, conducted a National Poll utant
Di scharge Elimnation System (NPDES) inspection of the Rickway Farns
dairy farm | ocated at 3909 Hoff Road, Everson, Washi ngton.

As a result of the inspection, the Unit Manager of the NPDES
Conmpliance Unit of the Ofice of Water, EPA Region 10 (the
Conmpl ainant), filed an initial Adm nistrative Conpl ai nt agai nst
Ri chway Farns (the Respondent) on April 16, 1997, under Section

! The correct nanme of the dairy business operated at 3909
Hof f Road during 1995 - 1997 is Rickway Farnms; the initial
Adm ni strative Conplaint, the Anended Conpl aint, and all other
pl eadi ngs refer to the Respondent as Ri chway Farns.



309(g)(2)(A) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 8 1319 (g)(2) (A,
chargi ng the Respondent with unauthorized di scharge of pollutants
into “navigable waters” in violation of Section 301(a) of the Clean
Wat er Act, and proposing a civil penalty of $11, 000. 00.

The Adm nistrative Conplaint was served by registered mail on

Larry Ri chner
Ri chway Far ns

M. Richner filed a Response to the initial Adm nistrative
Conpl ai nt dated May 30, 1997, in which he denied various allegations
in the Conplaint, and al so asserted that he owned the real property
at 3909 Hoff Road, but did not operate the dairy facility, that his
daught er Nancy Sheepbouwer, was the controlling operator of the dairy
farm and that no wastewater was di scharged fromthe property into
navi gabl e wat ers.

On May 15, 1997, the parties were notified that the undersigned
was designated as Presiding Oficer to conduct these proceedi ngs.

Two commenters, the Lumm Nation, a federally recognized tribe
of Anmerican Indians, and Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, an environnmental
organi zation, made witten conmments on the Adm nistrative Conpl aint.
See Conpl ainant’s Exhibit 11. The Lumm Nation also participated in
the July 25, 2000, hearing.

On COctober 2, 1998, the Conplai nant noved for perm ssion to
amend the Adm nistrative Conplaint to nane as additional respondents
Larry Ri chner and Nancy Sheepbouwer. Over M. Richner’s objection,
Conpl ai nant was al |l owed to anmend the Conplaint. The Anmended
Conpl ai nt was served on Larry Richner approxinmtely October 5, 1998,
but was never successfully served on Nancy Sheepbouwer. Ms.
Sheepbouwer did not participate in this proceeding.

After a series of prehearing conferences and unsuccessf ul
settl enent negotiations, a hearing was schedul ed for March 28, 2000.
The hearing was postponed at the request of M. Richner and the
Conpl ai nant to June 13, 2000. The hearing was subsequently postponed
to July 25, 2000, due to the death of M. Richner’s nmother. On My
1, 2000, the Conplainant filed a Motion to Stri ke Defenses, which was
deni ed on June 1, 2000.

The Conpl ai nant’ s prehearing exchange was filed April 14, 2000
and suppl enented April 26, 2000 and July 21, 2000. M. Richner’s



preheari ng exchange was filed April 17, 2000. The parties also
agreed to el even stipulations regarding undi sputed facts in the
pr oceedi ng.

The Presiding Oficer, the attorney for the Conpl ai nant, two
EPA inspectors, and the Respondent participated in a site visit to
the dairy farmat 3909 Hoff Road on July 24, 2000, the day prior to
t he heari ng.

The hearing was held on July 25, 2000, in Bellingham
Washi ngton. M. Richner filed corrections to the hearing transcri pt
on approxi mately Septenmber 1, 2000; the Conplainant filed corrections
on Septenber 1, 2000.2 The Conpl ainant filed proposed findings of
fact and conclusions of |aw and a post-hearing brief on Septenber 15,
2000. M. Richner filed proposed findings of fact and concl usi ons of
| aw on Septenber 29, 2000.

M. Richner acted pro se throughout the proceeding, but
recei ved advice froma private attorney during the hearing.

Al'l proposed findings, conclusions, and supporting argunents of
the parties and commenters have been considered. To the extent that
t he proposed findings and conclusions submtted by the parties are
i nconsistent with the conclusions stated herein they have been
rejected. Certain proposed findings and concl usi ons have been
omtted as not relevant or as not necessary to a determ nation of the
material issues presented. To the extent that the testinony of
various witnesses is not in accord with the findings herein it is not
credited.

Upon consideration of the entire admnistrative record in this
matter, for the reasons set forth below, | find Respondents Larry
Ri chner and Richway Farnms not |liable for violating Section 301(a) of
the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 8 1311(a), and dism ss this case
agai nst Respondent Nancy Sheepbouwer for |ack of prosecution.

I STATUTE AND REGULATI ONS

Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U. S.C. 8§ 1311(a),
provi des that, except as otherw se authorized by other sections of
the Act, the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be
unl awful . Section 502(12) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), defines

2 The transcript contains several errors not noted by the
parties.



“di scharge of a pollutant” as (A) any addition of any poll utant
to navigable waters from any point source.” Section 502(6) of the
Act, 33 U.S.C 8 1362(6), defines “pollutant to include *..
agricultural wastes discharged into water.”

EPA regul ations at 40 C.F. R Section 12.23 provide that
concentrated ani mal feeding operations are point sources subject to
t he NPDES permit program

Section 309(g)(2)(A) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U S.C. 8§
1319(g)(2)(A), provides that any person who violates Section 301(a)
of the Act, 33 U S.C. § 1311(a), shall be subject to a civil penalty
of up to $11,000 per violation, except that the maxi num anount of any
civil penalty shall not exceed $27, 500.

111 | SSUES
In his Answer,® Respondent Larry Ri chner

(1) denied that he operated the facility, stating that he had had a
heart attack in Decenber, 1994, and his daughter, Nancy Sheepbouwer,
t ook over operation of the dairy in January, 1995;

(2) stated that the “manure pile” observed by the EPA inspectors

is mud and silt caused by a slide on the hill above the dairy
barns that filled the creek channel and then ran through the
dairy shed and catch basin to nearby fields

(3) stated that

No water from any creek |leaves this farm Al water fromthe
four drainages run into an irrigation pond on the south side of
the farm No water fromthe farm goes to the Nooksack River.
Burlington Northern Railroad runs the entire I ength of the farm
on the south side. There is a 30 [inch] culvert under the
tracks. This culvert has been plugged since October of 1994.

No wast ewater went into “navigable waters.”

8 M. Richner did not file an answer to the Anended
Complaint. M. Richner’s Response dated May 30, 1997 to the
Adm ni strative Conpl aint was accepted as his answer in the
pr oceedi ng.



M. Richner reiterated these points at hearing and in his
post heari ng proposed findings of fact and concl usions of | aw.

IV DI SCUSSI ON

In order to prove a prima facie violation of Section 301(a) of
the Clean Water Act, the Conplai nant nust denonstrate that the
Respondent is legally responsible for (1) the discharge of a
pol lutant; (2) froma point source ; (3) into navigable water; (4)
w t hout an NPDES permt or other authorization.

A. Whether M. Richner is Liable as Owmer or Operator of the
Facility

M. Richner has maintained a home with his wife, Marilyn
Ri chner, at 3909 Hoff Road, Everson, Washington for over thirty
years. M. Richner testified that he operated a dairy farmwith his
wi fe at that address until he had a heart attack in Decenber, 1994, 4
after which he decided to transfer the dairy business to his wfe,
Marilyn Ri chner and his daughter Nancy Sheepbouwer.> Hearing
Transcript, pp. 137-38. An application for a m |k producer pernit
reflecting an “ownershi p change” was submtted to the Washi ngton
State Departnment of Agriculture effective January 4, 1995, signed by
Marilyn Richner and Nancy Sheepbouwer. They assuned the business
name of Rickway Farms. At the tinme of the EPA inspection on March
13, 1997, M. Richner maintained his ownership interest in the real
property on which the dairy farm ng operation at 3909 Hoff Road is
| ocated. M. Richner testified that since 1995 he has spent npst of
his tinme in Twi sp, Washi ngton, where he owns a heifer farm ng
operation, but that he still helps out his children at 3009 Hoff Road
by doing work around the farm when he is in Everson and feeling well
enough. Tr., pp. 138-39. M. Richner also testified that he tries
to teach his children the best way to run the dairy, does “leg work”
to help them and occasionally |oans them noney for the dairy
operation. Tr., pp. 142-143. On the day of the inspection, he was
feeding silage to cattle, which he could do on a tractor without
having to wal k a significant distance. Tr., p. 100.

‘M. Richner also has had a knee replacenment operation
since 1997, and suffers from di abetes.

5 As noted above, Nancy Sheepbouwer was naned as a
Respondent in the Amended Conpl aint, but never served. There
is no indication in the record why EPA did not name Marilyn
Ri chner as a Respondent.



The Conpl ai nant argues that M. Richner is the owner of the
“facility” and that he was responsible for its operation at the tine
of the inspection. Alternatively, the Conpl ai nant argues that M.

Ri chner had sufficient control of the dairy operation to be held
liable for the violation alleged in the Anended Conpl ai nt.

EPA regul ations at 40 C.F. R 122.2 define “owner or operator”
as the owner or operator of any “facility or activity” subject to
regul ati on under the NPDES program “Facility or activity” is defined
as any NPDES “point source” or any other facility or activity
(including | and or appurtenances thereto) that is subject to
regul ati on under the NPDES program As discussed below, a
concentrated ani mal feeding operation (“CAFO’) is a “point source,”
and at | east sonme part of the farmat 3909 Hoff Road is a CAFO

M. Richner has not been shown to be the “owner” of the Ri ckway
Farns dairy business.® | find M. Richner’s testinony that he
transferred ownership to his wife and daughter in 1995 due to health
concerns to be credible, and his testinony is corroborated by the
1995 mlk license for Rickway Farns, issued to “Marilyn Richner or
Nancy Sheepbouwer,” indicating that they, not M. Richner, own the
Ri ckway Farns dairy business. Conplainant’s Exhibit 12. Neither the
busi ness license issued in 1989 to Marilyn J. Richner as “owner” of
Larry Richner Dairy, Conplainant’s Exh. 27, nor the list of mlk
producers, Conplainant’s Exh. 17, which dates from 1993, is proof of
M. Richner’s ownership of the Rickway farnms dairy operation at any
time after 1995, or specifically at the tine of the EPA inspection on
March 13, 1997.

In arranging for the issuance of a new mlk license, the
Ri chners appear to have conplied fully with State | egal requirenments
regarding transfer of a m |k producer's |icense:

Every m | k producer nust obtain a mlk producer's license to
operate as a m |k producer as defined in this chapter. A mlk
producer's license is not transferable with respect to persons
or locations or both. The |icense, issued by the director upon
approval of an application for the |icense and conpliance with
the provisions of this chapter, shall contain the |license

¢ M. Richner is admttedly an owner of the real property
on which the dairy business is conducted. His potential
liability in that regard is discussed bel ow.
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nunber, name, residence, and place of business, if any, of the
i censee.

Revi sed Code of Washi ngton, Section 15.36.041.

VWhere, as here, an unincorporated business is being transferred
fromone famly nmenber to another, it is reasonable to expect a
relative degree of informality. The Conpl ai nant has not provided
citations to any rel evant Washi ngton State | aw regardi ng change of
owner shi p of an uni ncor porated business, and has not argued that
there is any legal defect in the transfer of ownership to M.

Ri chner’s wi fe and daughter.’

In contrast to the issue of ownership, on the evidence in the
record it is a very close question whether M. Richner has been shown
to be an “operator” of Rickway Farms. It is particularly difficult
to sort out M. Richner’s roles as landlord of the dairy farm ng
operation, as parent of one owner of Rickway Farns, and as husband of
the other, fromhis potential role as an “operator” of the Ri ckway
Farnms dairy business.

M. Richner has nmaintained consistently that he was not the
operator of the dairy business at the tine of the inspection.?
Al t hough M. Richner has perfornmed what appears to be a substanti al
amount of work at the dairy consistent with his health restrictions,
the nost conpelling evidence showing that M. Richner was an
“operator” of Rickway Farns at the time of the EPA inspection
involves M. Richner’s frequent and continued represention of the
dairy operation in dealings with state or federal agencies. Wile
his actions are to sonme degree consistent with his dual roles as
parent/| andl ord, and in some cases can be explained as relating to
his earlier activities as operator of the previous dairy business,
the relative frequency and the apparent consistency of his actions in
this regard show that he continued to have an active de facto role in

” The record contains no indication whether Nancy
Sheepbouwer and Marilyn Richner neglected to obtain a business
i cense, as opposed to a mlk license, for Rickway Farms, or
whet her Ri ckway Farnms was for sone reason exenpt fromthat
i censing requirenment.

8 The record does not show that M. Richner personally
caused the alleged violation at the facility, or even that he
was working at the facility at the tine the violation
initially occurred.



the dairy farm ng operation after transferring ownership in 1995 a
role presumably acqui esced in by the new owners.

For exanple, an EPA inspector testified that on the day of the
EPA i nspection, M. Richner

clearly did not indicate that he was not the person in charge
but in fact gave us the inpression that he was in charge and
that he nade the day-to-day decisions regarding the dairy
operation. Tr. p.16.

M. Richner’s contacts with the Soil Conservation Service
regarding flooding on the property, Conplainant’s Exh. 13, are nore
anmbi guous, since they initially dated from 1994 when he still
operated the dairy. Thus, his later authorization to rel ease
docunments in the Soil Conservation Service's files logically rel ates
back to that earlier activity, and in any event may be consi stent
with his interest as |landlord of the property. However, the fact
that a Dairy Notice of Correction issued by the Washington State
Departnent of Ecology in 1998, Conplainant’s Exh. 33, shows M.

Ri chner as the “contact” for JMDairy, and that the Departnment of

Ecol ogy dairy inspector testified that M. Richner was apparently in
charge on two occasi ons when he inspected the dairy in 1998, Tr. p.
11-12, indicate that M. Richner’s efforts to help his children in
their operation of the dairy after 1995 caused himto appear to have
authority over the dairy operation. O particular note is the
Departnent of Ecol ogy inspector’s observation regarding M. Richner’s
role in manure managenent for the dairy operation:

Q M . Kaufrman, on your subsequent visit who was in charge of
the dairy farnf

A M. Richner.

Q Have you talked to M. Richner about the managenment of
manure on his farnf

A Yes quite extensively.

Q Have you tal ked about who is in charge of manure?

A Yes. He clearly stated that he was in charge of the nmanure

managenent of that facility.
Tr. p. 12.

M. Richner testified that he was aware of the inpression being
conveyed by his actions:



Q You probably would not be surprised to hear that [a staff
menber of the Soil Conservation Service] considered you
the person who calls the shots on that dairy farnf

A No, everybody does.

Q You are the person who calls the shots as far as that
dairy farnf

A No. But everybody believes that because |’'ve al ways been

so vocal and |’'ve always done a |lot of the scream ng over
the years trying to teach the kids how to do things right.
| think nost people probably figure - and it’s |ike the
nei ghbor told nme the other day he said when are you
getting out of here? | said |I’'ve got ny stuff and I'm
gonna go over to Twisp. He said they re gonna end up
hauling you right out of this driveway here. But |I’msure
t hat everybody thinks that, yeabh.

Tr. p. 142-3.

Thus, even though M. Richner’s stated intention was to
transfer both ownership and operation of the dairy business to his
wi fe and daughter in 1995, he does not in fact appear to have
succeeded in transferring operational responsibility to them M.

Ri chner’ s continuing actions in representing the dairy in dealings
with state and federal regulators after 1995 are convincing evidence
that he retained a sufficient degree of responsibility, control, or
authority over the dairy operation to be considered an “operator” of
Ri ckway Farnms at the tinme of the March 13, 1997 inspection.

M. Richner’s role as |andlord al so appears, on the facts of
this case, to result in liability under the Clean Water Act. As
not ed above, EPA regulations at 40 C.F.R 122.2 define “owner or
operator” as the owner or operator of any “facility or activity”
subject to regulation under the NPDES program including |and or
appurtenances. \While this would appear to make the | andlord of a
facility always liable for the facility' s violations of the Cl ean
Water Act, relevant case | aw appears to inpose liability to a nore
limted degree. For exanple, see in |In re Urban Drainage and Fl ood

Control District, EPA Docket No. CWA-VIII-94-20-Pll (ALJ
Vander hayden, February 14, 1995). In finding Respondent City of
Laf ayette, Colorado, not liable, the Adm nistrative Law Judge st at ed:

to be liable for a discharge [under the Clean Water Act],
it is not necessary to actually discharge a pollutant.
Liability will attach if the respondent is the |egal cause of
the discharge. The causation requirenment can be fulfilled if



t he respondent had responsibility, control or authority over
t he discharges. [citations om tted]

VWile M. Richner’'s status as |andlord therefore does not

appear sufficient by itself to result in liability, where M. Richner
owned the real property on which the dairy business was | ocated and
has been shown to have been continuously active in working at the
dairy and in representing the dairy business in dealings with state
and federal regulatory agencies, his actions may result in liability
for violations of the Clean Water Act. Donald J. Aardema and Joe
Pacheco, EPA Docket No. 1091-08-06-309(g), Order Granting Partial
Summary Determ nation, (a landlord m ght act in concert with a tenant
and thereby acquire liability) (dictum (RJO Ham ||, June 24,

1992) .
As expl ai ned above, | find that Respondent Larry Richner has
been shown to be potentially |iable as an “owner or operator” under

the Clean Water Act for the violations alleged in the Anmended
Conpl ai nt .

B. Whet her There Was a Di scharge of a “Poll utant”

M. Richner argues that the “manure pile” observed by the EPA
i nspectors

is mud and silt caused by a slide on the hill above the dairy
barns that filled the creek channel and then ran through the
dairy shed and catch basin to nearby fields.

Contrary to M. Richner’s assertion, the videotape,
Conpl ai nant’ s Exh. 1, and the phot ographs taken during the
i nspection, Conplainant’s Exh. 2, conmbined with testinmony of the EPA
i nspectors, provide anple evidence that at the time of the inspection
a mxture of soil, nud, and manure fromthe dairy operation was
contam nating the unnamed creek flow ng across the southern portion
of the property. M. Richner admtted that the manure catch basin on
t he property overflowed prior to the March 13, 1997 inspection. Tr.
pp. 101, 107.

Section 502(6) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U S.C. § 1362(6),
defines the termpollutant as “... dredged spoil, solid waste,
i nci nerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, ..., and
agricultural wastes discharged into water.” Manure is clearly a
“pol lutant.” Concerned Area Residents for the Environnment v.
Sout hvi ew Farm 834 F. Supp. 1410 (WD.N. Y. 1993), rev'd on other
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grounds, 34 F.3d 114 (2d cir. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1793
(1995) (argunent rejected that manure is not a pollutant because it
was not "discarded"” but is instead used as a fertilizer).

Whil e some of the fecal colliformcontam nation neasured by the
EPA i nspectors may have been caused by upstream houses, the clear
evi dence of a substantial quantity of manure standing in the open
field mkes it reasonable to infer that the
spilled manure is the primary source of the contam nation neasured by
t he i nspectors.

The manure spill therefore resulted in discharge of a
“pol lutant” within the nmeaning of Section 502(12) of the Act, 33
U S C § 1362(12).

C. \Vhether an Act of God Defense |s Applicable

M. Richner argues that |andslides that caused a natural gas
pi peline just north of his property to explode on February 8, 1997,
al so caused a series of nudslides off the hill to the east of his
property which caused the creek at the foot of the hill to flood
portions of the farm including the concrete slab between the cow
sheds and the manure catch basin. As a result, manure fromthe catch
basin entered an unnamed creek on the property. Tr. p.7. The slides
al so destroyed the fence on the eastern side of the barn and shed
area that kept cows fromgetting into the easterly unnamed creek

M. Richner argues that because the slides were caused by a gas
pi pel i ne explosion and by building activities by other persons on the
hill above the dairy, the Respondents should not be held responsible.

The Clean Water Act is a strict liability statute, and cases
interpreting it do not recognize an “Act of God” defense.® See, for
exanple, United States v. Earth Sciences, Inc., 599 F.2d 368, 374
(10th Cir.1979) which held that the Clean Water Act is a strict
liability statute:

The regulatory provisions of the [Act] were witten w thout
regard to intentionality, . . . making the person responsible

°A different defense is recogni zed where the discharge is
caused by a 24 hour/25 year stormevent. However, no such
event appears to have occurred in the Everson area near the
time of the alleged violations. Conplainant’s Exh. 19.
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for the discharge of any pollutant strictly liable . . . The
Act woul d be severely weakened if only intentional acts were
proscri bed. 10

Significantly, in the US. v. Earth Sciences case, liability was
found where recircul ation sunps at a gold | eaching operation were
overwhel ned by greater-than-expected snow nelt runoff, causing
cyani de di schar ges.

See in addition In re Town of Luray, EPA Docket No. CWA-111-185
(ALJ Kuhl man, Nov. 4, 1997) in which the Adm nistrative Law Judge
rul ed that the Respondent’s assertion that it had “done all that
could be humanly expected” had no relevance in determning liability
under the Clean Water Act. Simlarly, inln re Puerto Rico Urban
Renewal & Housing Corp., EPA Docket No. CWA-11-89-249 (ALJ Ni ssen,
June 29, 1993) the owner of a sanitary collection system was found
strictly liable for unpermtted di scharges of untreated wastewater to
a river, notw thstanding that the discharges resulted fromillegal
connections to the systemby third parties.

In Iight of these cases interpreting the Clean Water Act, it is
evi dent that Respondents woul d be responsible for violations of the
Act even if the pipeline explosion or hillside construction by other
parties were shown to be the original cause of the violations.

D. Whet her There Was a Di scharge From a “Poi nt Source”

Section 502(14) of the Act, 33 U S.C. 8§ 1362(14) defines
‘poi nt source’ as “ any di scernable, confined and discrete
conveyance, including but not limted to any ... concentrated ani nal

feedi ng operation [enphasis added], ... fromwhich pollutants are or
may be di scharged.”

A concentrated ani mal feeding operation is defined in Section
122.23(b)(3) of EPA regulations, 40 C.F.R Section 122.23(a)(3), as
an “ani mal feeding operation” which neets the criteria in 40 C.F. R
Part 122, Appendi x B.

10 The | andslides m ght be relevant to mtigation of the
penalty, assum ng the Respondents could show appropriate
diligence in addressing the pollution caused by the slides.
On the record in this case, however, it appears that the
di scharge caused by the | andslides was not cleaned up
i mredi ately.
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An “ani mal feeding operation,” in turn, is defined in Section
122.23(b) (1) of EPA regulations, 40 C.F.R Section 122.23(a)(1), as

Alot or facility . . . where the followng conditions are net:

(i) Animals . . . have been, are, or will be stabled or
confined and fed or maintained for a total of 45 days or nore
in any 12-nonth period, and

(ii) Crops, vegetation forage growth, or post-harvest residues
are not sustained in the normal grow ng season over any portion
of the ot or facility.

As defined in 40 C.F. R Part 122, Appendix B, an animal feeding
operation is a concentrated ani mal feeding operation [“CAFO'] for
purposes of 8§ 122.23 if either of the following criteria are net:

(a) More than the nunmbers of animals specified in any of the
foll owi ng categories are confined .

(2) 700 mature dairy cattle (whether mlked or dry cows),

(10) 1,000 animal wunits; or

(b) More than the follow ng nunmber and types of animls are
confined .

(2) 200 mature dairy cattle (whether mlked or dry cows),

(10) 300 animal units;

and either one of the followi ng conditions are net: pollutants
are discharged into navigable waters through a manmade ditch,
flushing systemor simlar manmade device; or pollutants are

di scharged directly into waters of the United States which
originate outside of and pass over, or across, or through the
facility or otherwi se conme into direct contact with the animls
confined in the operation.

The Conpl ai nant does not explain exactly how the Ri ckway Farnms
dairy nmeets the above definition of “aninmal feeding operation” or
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neets the criteria in Appendix B for a “concentrated ani mal feeding
operation.” See Conplainant’s Post Hearing Brief at p. 6.

M. Richner apparently does not dispute that at the tinme of the
inspection the facility confined, and fed or nmaintained, dairy cattle
for a total of 45 days or nore in a 12 nonth peri od.

The main open-air confinenent area for the cows is paved in
concrete. Some areas of the farm show bare earth, while others have
natural vegetation, or are planted to crops. Accordingly, it appears
that part, but not all, of the farmis an animl feeding operation
within the terns of the above definition.

According to the inspection report, at the tinme of the
i nspection there were 316 cows on the property. See page 1 of the
i nspection report, Conplainant’s Exh. 2. The inspection report is
apparently based on information provided to EPA inspectors by M.
Richner. While M. Richner has stated that he did not know the
actual nunmber of cows on the property the day of the inspection, |
wi Il accept the statenents in the inspection report as accurate. (It
shoul d be noted that M. Richner has had the opportunity to prove
that the dairy had fewer than 200 cows, and has not done so.)

| therefore find that at | east some portion of the Ri ckway
Farms dairy is an animal feeding operation and a concentrated ani ma
f eedi ng operation, and therefore a “point source” within the neaning
of Section 502(14) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362 (14), and 40 C F. R
Part 122, Appendi x B.

E. Into Navi gabl e Wat er

M. Richner argues that that

[n]o water from any creek | eaves this farm Al water fromthe
four drainages run[s] into an irrigation pond on the south side
of the farm No water fromthe farm goes to the Nooksack

Ri ver. Burlington Northern Railroad runs the entire |ength of
the farmon the south side. There is a 30 [inch] culvert under
the tracks. This culvert has been plugged since October of
1994.

Therefore, M. Richner argues that no manure-contam nated water went

into “navi gabl e waters” and there was no di scharge of a pollutant to
navi gabl e waters. Response to the Adm nistrative Conplaint, p.3.
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Par agraph 2.3 of the Anended Conpl aint, which describes
the single alleged violation of the Clean Water Act that is
the subject of this case, alleges that an unnamed creek on the
property at 3909 Hoff Road flowed through a manure pile
resulting fromthe dairy operation and that

[t] he unnanmed creek contained pollutants which flowed
fromthe manure pile and discharged to the Nooksack
Ri ver. (enphasi s added)

Par agraph 2.4 of the Amended Conpl aint all eges that

[t]his discharge of wastewater constitutes a discharge to
‘navi gabl e waters’ within the nmeaning of [the Clean Water
Act]. (enphasis added).

Paragraph 2.5 of the Anended Conpl ai nt all eges that

The di scharge described above constitutes “di scharge of a
pol lutant”, within the neaning of [Section 502[12] and
Section 502[ 6] of the Clean Water Act], froma ‘ point
source” within the neaning of Section 502[14] [of the

Cl ean Water Act]. (enphasis added)

Thus, it appears that the sole violation alleged in the
Amended Conplaint is a discharge of pollutants into the
Nooksack River, not a discharge into creeks on the dairy
property. M. Richner’s defense that no contam nated water
|l eft the property is based to sone degree on a
m sunder st andi ng of the scope of the Clean Water Act.?!

11 Both creeks on the property appear to be tributaries of
Smith Creek and the Nooksack River. Thus, in spite of the
fact that the creeks may sonetines be blocked fromflowing to
Smth Creek and the Nooksack River, the discharge of
pol lutants into the creeks appears to violate the Cl ean Water
Act. See cases cited in the Conpl ai nant’ s Post Hearing Brief
at pp. 4 and 5, and In re Robert Wallin dba Bob WAllin Dairy,
EPA Docket No. 10-98-0069-CWA/G (RJO Smith, May 9, 2000)

(di scharge of pollutants into wetlands on dairy farm viol ates
Cl ean Water Act even where discharge did not reach a river

t hat was “navi gable water”). However, as discussed in the
mai n text above, the Anended Conpl ai nt does not charge the
Respondents with this violation.

15



However, in making this defense he appears to be responding directly
to the major allegations in the Conplaint.

I n essence, the Respondents were charged with the
di scharge of a pollutant into the Nooksack River. Absent a
timely clarifying amendnent to the Conplaint, M. Richner is
entitled to defend by alleging that no pollutants flowed to
t he Nooksack River.

In the present case the Conpl ai nant has been on notice of
M. Richner’s defense since his Response to the initial
Adm ni strative Conplaint was filed in 1997, and the
Conpl ai nant never argued that the ultimate discharge into the
Nooksack River was legally irrelevant until it filed the
Motion to Strike Defenses dated May 1, 2000 and the Post
Hearing Brief dated Septenber 15, 2000. The Conpl ai nant never
sought to anmend the Adm nistrative Conplaint or the Amended
Conpl ai nt concerning this issue.? To the contrary, an
unexpl ai ned wordi ng change, fromthe Adm nistrative Conplaint’s “The
unnamed creek which flowed through the manure pile flows to the
Nooksack River,” to the Amended Conplaint’s “The unnamed creek
contai ned pollutants which flowed fromthe manure pile and di scharged

to the Nooksack River” (enphasis added), makes the allegation even
nore explicit, that the alleged violation is a discharge to the
Nooksack River, not a discharge into the creeks on the dairy

property.

Considering that M. Richner has acted pro se throughout
much of this proceeding, the Conplainant would have sinplified
this case considerably if it had made clear earlier that it
consi dered the contam nati on by manure of the creeks on the
dairy farmto be a violation of the Clean Water Act regardl ess
of whether the creeks flowed off the property or not.

Under the Consolidated Rules, the Conpl ai nant has the
burden of proving the specific allegations in the conplaint:

The conpl ai nant has the burden of going forward with and
of proving that the violation occurred as set forth in
the conplaint and that the proposed civil penalty .

is appropriate (enphasis added).

2 Adm ni strative pleadings are liberally construed and
easily amended. Yaffe lron and Metal Co., 774 F.2d 1008 (10th
Cir., October 3, 1985).

16



40 C.F. R Section 22.24 (1980).

The conpl ai nant has the burdens of presentation and
persuasi on that the violation occurred as set forth in
the conplaint and that the relief sought is appropriate
(enphasi s added).

40 C.F. R Section 22.24(a) (1999 revision).

Accordingly, in order to find for the Conplai nant that
the specific violation alleged in the Amended Conpl ai nt
occurred, | would have to find by a preponderance of the
evi dence'® that at the tinme of the inspection the culvert under
the railroad tracks had been at |east partially open! so that
the southern creek on the property could “discharge” to Smth
Creek and to the Nooksack River. The facts in that regard are
di sputed, and the Conplainant, not M. Richner, has the burden
of persuasion on this issue.

The EPA inspection report states that the creek in
guestion “flows to the Nooksack River,” but does not state the
source of that information. The inspection report also states
that, with respect to another creek on the property, M.

Ri chner said it “connected to the Nooksack River.”
Conpl ai nant’s Exh. 2 Inspection Report). One of the EPA
inspectors testified that on the day of the inspection M.

Ri chner said that the creeks on the property flowed to the
Nooksack River, and that the inspector “had no reason to doubt
him” Tr. p. 28. However, M. Richner’s statenents in this
regard on the day of the inspection are of |limted probative

BSection 22.24(b) of the Consolidated Rules, 40 C. F.R
S22.24(b), provides “[e]l]ach matter of controversy shall be
deci ded by the Presiding Officer upon a preponderance of the
evi dence.”

1Connecticut Fund for the Environment v. Upjohn Co., 660
F. Supp. 1397, 1418 (D. Conn. 1987) (court rejected
def endant’ s argunment that no violation occurred “when
def endant di scharged only a de mnim s ambunt of wastewater
into the river. The FWPCA does not distinguish between small
di scharges and | arge discharges. To the extent, in whatever
amount of wastewater was discharged to the river, defendant
exceeded the effluent limtations on a given day, a violation
occurred.”)
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val ue, due to the obvious ambiguity in terns of the question
M. Richner thought he was answering. ®

M. Richner admts that the farm drains southwest in the
direction of Smith Creek and the Nooksack River, and is in
part in the drainage basin of the Nooksack River, Tr. pp.

108, 116, but he disputes that any water fromthe creeks on the
property could actually flowto Smth Creek or the Nooksack
River at the time of the inspection and for nany years
previously. Tr. pp. 103,105. On the day of the inspection,
nei t her EPA inspector followed the southernnost creek on the
property to its assunmed confluence with Smth Creek, due to

t he substantial amount of standing water at the | ower end of
the farm and neither observed nor took pictures of the

cul vert under the Burlington Northern Santa Fe railroad
enbankment for the same reason. Tr. p. 47.

M. Richner testified that all the water fromthe
property flows toward and al ongsi de the railroad embankment,
but that in his experience the culvert under the railroad
tracks had never been open until late April, 1997, after the
1997 inspection, when a crew fromthe railroad cleaned it.
Tr. p. 104. M. Richner testified that during extensive
fl ooding of the Nooksack River in 1991, he observed that the
wat er | evel on the north side of the railroad enmbanknent was
four feet |ower than on the south (Nooksack River) side,

i ndicating that water did not flow through the culvert at that
time. Tr. pp. 115-116. M. Richner testified that in late

April, 1997, the railroad crew was initially unable to | ocate
t he cul vert because it was overgrown with brush. Tr. pp. 103-
104. When the cul vert was opened, standing water fromthe

Smith Creek side of the enmbankment flowed onto M. Richner’s
property, indicating that the culvert had been conpletely

pl ugged. Tr. p. 104. The culvert lies in a |low spot, so it
fills up rapidly with nud. Tr. pp. 119-120, 122-123. 1In the
three years fromthe time the culvert was cleaned in 1997
until it was cleaned again in February, 2000, it filled with
mud. Tr. p. 119.

M Richner’s statenents to EPA staff on the day of the
i nspection are not concl usive adm ssions for the purposes of
this proceeding, but may be di sputed or expl ained by him
Anerican Desk Manufacturing Co., Inc., EPA Docket No. EPCRA-
VI - 4498, (ALJ Hoya, October 31, 1995).
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M. Richner testified that when there is standing water
agai nst the northeast side of the railroad enbanknent, the
wat er either percolates into the ground due to the porous soi
near the railroad embanknent, or flows along the north side of
t he embanknment to an adjacent property where it percol ates
into the ground. Tr. p. 140.

The | arge amount of standing water in the |ower part of the
farm property near the culvert at the time of the inspection is
convi nci ng evidence that the culvert was fully blocked, as is M.
Ri chner’ s observation that standing water flowed onto his property
when the culvert was cl eaned shortly after the inspection.

Al t hough t he Conpl ai nant points to the railroad’s witten
policy of inspecting culverts annually, Conplainant’s Exh. 14, it is
doubtful that the railroad was inplenenting the policy consistently
in 1997 and earlier. Under the railroad’ s policy, culverts |arger
than thirty-six inches in dianeter are inspected by a different
office of the railroad than smaller culverts. The culvert is
apparently thirty inches in diameter. Tr. p. 8. Possible internal
confusion over the railroad s division of responsibility for a
culvert of that size may explain the apparent |ack of inspection and
mai nt enance on the cul vert.

The railroad apparently keeps no | og of the maintenance done on
culverts, Tr. p. 112, and the testinony of the railroad s enpl oyee at
heari ng was vague and tended to prove that the railroad s actual
practice was different fromits witten policy. Tr. pp. 49-52. The
rail road enpl oyee had only a general recollection of the |ocation of
the culvert and did not recall when it had been cleaned |last; from
his testinmony, it was also unclear which unit of the railroad is
responsi ble for cleaning the culvert. Tr. pp. 49-52. Thus, while the
enpl oyee’s sincerity is not disputed, his evident |ack of
recol | ection makes his testinmony of very limted probative value for
t he Conpl ai nant’s case.

| find that the Conplainant has failed to show by a
preponderance of the evidence that the railroad culvert in the
enbanknment running along the southwest side of the dairy farmat 3909
Hof f Road was at |east partially open at the time of the EPA
i nspection on March 13, 1997. The Conpl ai nant has therefore al so
failed to show that at the approximate tinme of the inspection there
was a discharge to the Nooksack River from creeks on the property at
3909 Hoff Road.
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V. FI NDI NGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

(1) EPA' s authority for this action is set forth in Sections
301 and 309 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 88 1311 and 13109.

(2) Section 301 of the Clean Water Act prohibits the
unaut hori zed di scharge of any pollutant by any person except as
aut horized by a National Pollution Discharge Elimnation System
(“NPDES”) permt or other specified statutory sections.

(3) Section 309 of the Clean Water Act provides EPA with the
authority to enforce the prohibitions against unlawful discharge and
to seek penalties against violators.

(4) Respondents Larry Richner and Nancy Sheepbouwer are
persons within the nmeani ng of Section 502(5) of the Clean Water Act,
33 U.S.C. § 1362(5).

(5) It has not been established that Respondent Ri chway Farns
is a person within the neaning of Section 502(5) of the Clean Water
Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5).

(6) EPA filed its initial Conplaint on April 16, 1997, agai nst
Ri chway Farnms and served the Conplaint on M. Richner.

(7) EPA filed an Amended Conpl aint on October 2, 1998.

Ri chway Farns, Larry Richner, and Nancy Sheepbouwer were all named
as Respondents in the Amended Conpl ai nt.

(8) EPA served Larry Richner and Nancy Sheepbouwer with the
Amended Conplaint by certified mail. EPA did not receive a return
receipt for the service on Ms. Sheepbouwer and attenpted personal
service of the Conplaint. M. Sheepbouwer avoi ded personal service.

(9) Larry Richner operated a dairy business at 3909 Hoff Road,
Ever son Washi ngton, until 1995.

(10) Larry Richner had a heart attack in Decenber, 1994 and on
advi ce of his physician he relinquished ownership of the dairy
busi ness at 3909 Hoff Road to his wife Marilyn and his daughter Nancy
Sheepbouwer in January, 1995; he intended also to relinquish
responsibility for operation of the dairy business at that tine.

(11) An application for a Gade A M|k Producer Perm:t
reflecting an “ownershi p change” was submtted to the Washi ngton
State Departnent of Agriculture effective January 4, 1995, signed by
Marilyn Richner and Nancy J. Sheepbouwer. They assuned the business
name of Rickway Farns.

(12) Marilyn Richner is not a party to this proceeding.

(13) Since 1995, Larry Richner has maintained an ownership
interest in the land on which the dairy farm ng operation at 3909
Hoff Road is | ocat ed.

(14) Since 1995, Larry Richner and his wife nmaintain a home on
the property at 3909 Hoff Road; Larry Richner also spends time in
Twi sp, Washi ngton, where he owns a heifer farm ng operation
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(15) Since 1995, Larry Richner has continued to help out his
children by doing work around the farm at 3909 Hoff Road when he is
avai l abl e and continues to represent the dairy business inits
dealings with state and federal regulatory agencies, including EPA
the Soil Conservation Service, and the Washi ngton State Department of
Ecol ogy.

(16) Larry Richner has not been shown to be an owner of Ri ckway
Farms; his continuing involvement in the operation of the dairy
busi ness at 3909 Hoff Road shows that he was an operator of Ri ckway
Farnms at the tinme of the March 13, 1997 EPA inspection, and is
therefore an “owner or operator” of the Rickway Farms dairy business,
as that phrase is defined in 40 CF. R Part 122

(17) Section 402 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U S.C. § 1342,
provides that a state with an approved NPDES program nmay issue
permts for the discharge of any pollutant into waters of the United
St at es upon such specific terns and conditions as the state may
prescri be. Washi ngt on has an NPDES permt program

(18) Animal manure is included in the listing of types of
di scharge regul ated by Washington’s General Permt for Dairies.
Effluent limtations in this permt prohibit any discharge unl ess
such discharge is the direct result of a 25-year 24 hour rainfal
event for that |ocation.

(19) At no time relevant to this action has the dairy at 3909
Road, Everson Washington, been authorized by an NPDES permt to
di scharge wastewater, manure, or other pollutants to waters of the
United States.

(20) At all tinmes relevant to this action, the dairy farm at
3909 Road has included a mlking parlor and a fenced confinement area
with a concrete floor. The mlking parlor is plunbed to a manure
catch basin. Manure in the confinenment area is scraped to the catch
basin by nmeans of a tractor.

(21) The facility's dairy cattle are confined and fed in these
areas for at |east 45 days in any 12-nonth peri od.

(22) At the tinme of the March 13, 1997 inspection, this
facility confined nore than 200 mature cows and nore than 300 “ani nal
units” as that termis defined in 40 C.F. R Part 122, Appendi x B.

(23) At the time of the March 13, 1997, inspection at | east
sone portion of the dairy was a “concentrated ani mal feeding
operation” as that phrase is defined in 40 CF. R Part 122, Appendi x
B, and was therefore a “point source” as that phrase is defined in
Section 502(14) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U S.C. § 1362(14).

(24) The manure catch basin on the property overflowed prior to
EPA's March 13, 1997 EPA inspection.
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(25) At the time of EPA's inspection, waters of a creek on the
property flowed through manure which had overflowed fromthe catch
basi n.

(26) Analysis of water sanples taken on March 13, 1997, from
the creeks on the property showed the presence of fecal coliform
bacteria at concentrations of up to 50,000 MPN 100m .

(27) The fecal coliform contam nated di scharge observed and
sanpl ed on March 13, 1997, contained “pollutants” within the nmeaning
of Section 502(6) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 8§ 1362(6).

(28) A creek on the property at 3909 Hoff Road fl ows sout hward
al ong the eastern edge of the stalls in the dairy cattle confinenment
area, across the access road, then southwest across the pasture to
anot her creek.

(29) Another creek on the above property flows across the
sout hern portion of the property fromeast to west.

(30) Railroad tracks run along an enbanknent which extends the
| ength of the southwestern border of the property.

(31) The railroad enbanknent fornms an artificial barrier
separating the property fromthe Nooksack River and Smth Creek.

(32) A 30 inch culvert runs under the railroad enmbanknment and
connects to the area sout hwest of the tracks.

(33) Aside fromthe culvert, no evidence was produced which
showed that any water fromthe east side of the railroad enbanknent
could flow to the southwest side of the enmbanknment as of March 13,
1997.

(34) On March 13, 1997, the date of EPA' s inspection, the area
around the culvert under the railroad enmbanknment was under water, and
was not exam ned by EPA inspectors or by M. Richner.

(35) If the culvert had been open at the time of the
i nspection, water fromthe creeks on the property would have gone
under the track through the culvert and to Smth Creek and the
Nooksack River.

(36) Smith Creek and the Nooksack River are “navi gabl e waters”
and “waters of the United States” within the nmeaning of Section
502(7) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U. S.C. 8§ 1362(7), and 40 C.F. R
§ 122. 2.

(37) Burlington Northern Santa Fe has a policy on inspecting
cul verts, but does not keep a record of when culverts are cleaned.

(38) The culvert under the railroad embanknment was cl eared by
Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad enpl oyees approximately two
weeks after the March 13, 1997 EPA inspection with the use of a crane
and an auger. The standing water on the west side of the tracks
rushed toward the northeast side of the tracks until water |evels on
the two sides of the enmbankment were bal anced out.
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(39) Based on the specific allegations of the Amended
Conpl ai nt, the discharge of manure and water observed by EPA
i nspectors on March 13, 1997, would have been an unauthori zed
di scharge of pollutants to waters of the United States and a
violation of Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U S.C. 8§
1311(a), if the contam nated water had been able to flow through the
cul vert under the railroad enbankment into Smith Creek and the
Nooksack River.

(40) It has not been shown by a preponderance of the evidence
that as of the date of the March 13, 1997, inspection the culvert
under the railroad embankment was open so that water could pass
through it fromthe property at 3909 Hoff Road to Smth Creek and the
Nooksack River.

(41) The Lumm Nation is highly dependent on the fisheries
resource in the Nooksack watershed and adjacent areas for cultural
and subsi stence use as well as commercial and recreational use. The
Chi nook sal non, in particular, are nost prized because of their
beauty and size. The Chinook has great spiritual inportance to the
Tribe. Tribal nmenbers |ook to the Chinook sal non as an indication of
their environnmental health.

(42) In light of the foregoing findings and concl usions, the
Amended Conpl ai nt nust be dism ssed as to all Respondents.

ACCORDI NGLY, I T I'S ORDERED t hat

(1) The Conplainant’s Mdtion to Conform Transcript to Actual
Testinmony is granted, and the Respondent’s corrections to the hearing
transcript submtted by letter dated August 31, 2000 are accepted.

(2) Respondents Larry Richner and R chway Farnms are found not I|iable
for violating Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U S.C. 8§
1311(a), and this proceeding is dism ssed as to each Respondent.

(3) This proceeding is dism ssed as to Respondent Nancy Sheepbouwer
for | ack of prosecution.

(4) Pursuant to the Consolidated Rules, 40 C.F.R § 22.27(c), this
initial decision will becone the final order of the Environnental
Appeal s Board within forty-five (45) days after its service upon the
parties and wi thout further proceedings unless: (1) a party noves to
reopen the hearing; (2) a party appeals the initial decision to the
Envi ronnmental Appeals Board; or (3) the Environnmental Appeals Board
elects to reviewthis initial decision on its own initiative.
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(5) Under the Consolidated Rules, 40 C.F.R. 8§ 22.30, any party may
appeal this initial decision by filing an original and one copy of a
noti ce of appeal and an acconpanyi ng appellate brief with the

Envi ronmental Appeals Board within thirty days after this initial
decision is served.

SO ORDERED Thi s 15'" Day of February, 2001

[ S/
Steven W Anderson

Regi onal Judicial O ficer
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